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IN THEUNITED STATESDISTRICTCOURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAHCENTRAL DIVISION

ITN FLIX, LLC, ,
MEMORANDUM DECISIONAND ORDER
Plaintiff, DENYING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR
RULE 11 SANCTIONS

V.
Case N02:15-cv-00736DN-DBP
UNIVISION TELEVISION GROUP, INC.,
UNIVISION HOLDINGS, INC., UNIVISION District JudgeDavid Nuffer
COMMUNICATIONS, INC., and EL REY
NETWORK, LLC, Magistrate Judge Dustin B. Pead

Defendants

This matter was referred to theurt under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(A). (ECF No. 3.) The
case involveslBegations of copyright violationselated to the filmMachete. (See ECF No. 46.)
Defendantdiled a “Motion for Rule 11 Sanctionseekingdismissal of all claims against
Univision Salt Lake Cityl.LC, Univision Communications Inc., and Univision Holdings, Inc.
(collectively “Univision Defendants”), as well as attorney fees expenefshding this action
(ECF Na 90). The Motion is fully briefed and ready for the court’s decisiSze ECF Na. 90,
96, 107).The court declines the parties’ requefstr oral argument, finding no good cause to
entertaina hearing

STANDARD OF REVIEW

By signing, filing, submitting, or advocating a written submission to the court, ebuns
represents “the factual contems have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will
likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for furthettigetasn or
discovery.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(3). This requires an attorney to conduct an objectively-

ressonable investigation of the facts before signing a document filed with the Sssurt.
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Adamson v. Bowen, 855 F.2d 668, 673 (10th Cir. 1988k&onableness of counsel's conduct
necessarily depends upthre prevailingfacts and circumstances ofjzwencase See Garth O.
Green Enterprises, Inc. v. Harward, No. 2:15ev-556, 2017 WL 213787, at *7 (D. Utah Jan. 18,
2017) (discussingelevantfactors mentioned in the advisory committee notes to Rulelrhg).
court enjoys broad discretion in determining whether Rule 11 sanctions are appropriate.
Adamson at 673.

PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

Defendants conterdule 11 sanctions are warranted becahnsdJnivision Defendants
did not broadcad¥lachete at any time but Plaintiff alleges they have done seryyear since
2010. (ECF No. 90 at 829 Defendants point out that Plaintiff has not identified any facts to
support its allegation that Univision Defendants broaddashete, despite discovery requests
seeking such informationld; at 10). Defendants contend Plaintifi'svestigationof the
underlyingfacts was unreasonable under the six factors appli&drith O. Green Enterprises v.
Harward, No. 2:15ev-556, 2017 WL 213787, *7 (D. Utah Jan. 18. 201M®). §t 11-17).

Plaintiff's former counsel at Parr Brown Gee & Loe®ssd (“Parr Brown"arguesRule 11
sanctions are not warranted simply because cddeinal allegations are ultimately proven
untrue, so long as there was some evidentiary basis supdeldingff's claimswhen they were
alleged (ECF No. 96 at 4ParrBrown contends it adequately investigated the allegations
against the Univision Defendants and found those allegations adequately supported by client
testimony and circumstantial evidendel. @t 5-15). Parr Brown also contends the motion is
procedurally impropeinsofar ast seeks dismissal with prejudidgd. at 15-17).Finally, Parr

Brown requests an award of its attorney fees incurred in defending the miatian.1().

' The court’sreferences to the parties’ briefs uke numbering convention ascribed by the
parties rather than the court’s automated electronic system.
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ANALYSIS
As an initial matter, the court notes Defendants’ requesti$onissalpursuant to Rule 11
is now moot because Judge Nuffer dismissed Plaintiff's clgiBGF No. 127) The court turns
now to the second portion of Defendants’ request for sanctions: an avedtdrney fees to
Univision Defendants.

a. The court deniesDefendants’ request for attorney-fee sanctionsbecause
Defendants have not established a violation &ule 11

The court declines to award Univision Defenddhtsr attorney fees because
Defendants have not shown Plaintiff's claims lacked evidentiary suppihat counsel
failed to reasonably investigate Plaintif€aims.“[T]he court should not ordinarily have
to explain its denial of a motion for sanctions.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, advisory committee
note.Nonetheless, the court does so here bedabskevesanexplanation may benefit
future parties and counsel when they consider whether to file Rule 11 motions.

Univision Defendants take issue with the following allegations in the Second
Amended Complaint:

35. Defendants actively promoted, displayed, broadcasted and distributed
Machete to the public.

36. Defendants showedachete publicly on their respective networks, all to the
detriment of Plaintiff, thereby infringing on Plaintiff’'s copyrights.

37.Machete, as reproduced, performed, distributed and displayed to the public by
Defendants, is strikingly and substantially similar to the copyrighted and
protected elements dengeance as illustrated and alleged in the following
paragraphs.

66 Beginning in 2010 and each year thereafter, Defendants infringed upon said
copyright by distributing, displaying and placing upon the public maMieehete,
which was largely copied from Plaintiff's copyrighted movie.

70. Defendants supported, committed, promoted and participated in copyright
violations by showing and airingachete on their public airwaves.

71. Plaintiff suffered resulting damages from Defendants’ perpetuatibe s t
copyright infringements by the broadcastindvtschete.
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76. Since 2010, Defendants have been televising, broadcasting, advertising, and
otherwise marketiniylachete, and have thereby been engaging in unfair trade
practices and unfair competition against Plaintiff to Plaintiff's irrepardaiaage.

Defendantdiavenot demonstrated that Plaintiff's claims laclkeedadequate evidentiary
basis or that counsel failed to reasonably investigateldimas.Rule 11requiresa party to have
evidentiarysupportfor any claimsand requires counsel to conduct an objectivedsonable
investigation of the factdefore signing a document filed with the co&ee Fed. R. Civ. P.
11(b)(3);Adamson v. Bowen, 855 F.2d 668, 673 (10th Cir. 1988lere, Parr Brown sets forth
several facts to demonstrate it conducted an adequagstigation and that the claims in the
Second Amended Complaint had adequate evidentiary support.

As an initial matter, Defendangppear to take issue with a narrow subset of Plaintiff's
allegations. Defendants concede they promoted or advekiagtte by placing trailers and
cast interviews on YouTube in 201%e (ECF No. 107 at 5-6YVhile Defendants argue these
claims have statwtef-limitations issues, they raise no issue that presents a Rule 11 problem.
Instead, Defendants appear most concerntdRlaintiff’'s allegations that Univision
Defendants broadcaktachetein its entirety.

The court finds Plaintiff's allegations do not run afoul of Rule 11, primarily basedmn t
pieces of evidencthat support a claim that Univision Defendants broaddashete. One it is
undisputed that EI Rey broadcadachete and has contracted to again broadcast the movie in
May 2018. (ECF No. 98t xi). Two, “Univision[?] . . . promoesEl Rey on Univision’s websites
and lists El Rey as one of its own networks.” (ECF No. 9&iiatl0). These facts provide
Plaintiff with the necessary information to file a claim tBafendants collectively broadcast

Machete. Relying on these facts alepan outsider could reasonably conclude that Univision

2Parr Brown defines Univision to include the Univision Defendants. (ECF No. 96 at vi).
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Defendants broadcaktachete on the El Rey network, which Univision Defendants’ websites
indicate is one of their own networllaintiff's counsel could reasonably conclude from
Univision Defendants’ own website that those entities were responsible for [staglca
Machete. Plaintiff then needed discovery to learn the nature and extent of Univision D&fenda
relationship with El Rey.

In addition to these facts, which appear undisputed, Parr Brown contends it learned
additional corroborating evidence. For example, Univision Defendants enterd¢dexgiap with
the creator oMachete that allowed Univision Defendants to invest in, control, manage, and
operate El Rey. (ECF No. 96 at 10). DiscovViatgr revealed that Univision Defendants exert
significant influence over El Rey and have a direct financial interest in E$ Reginess and
operations.I(. at xii). Parr Brown also learned Univision Defendants advertised and promoted
Machete on their television and online channelsl) These facts provided adequate support for
the allegations that Defendants collectively broadcast, promoted and advddctete.

1. Defendantsimproperly rely on hindsight to justify sanctions

Plaintiff's allegations ar@ot transformed inteanctionableonducteven ifMachete was
only broadcast on Defendant El Registwork “Hindsight may well reveal that additional
research or investigation would have avoided litigation, and yet the rule is no¢didkadster
v. Michelin Tire Corp., 108 F.R.D. 412, 415 (C.D. Ill. 198%)efendantseek sanctionisecause
they believe the allegation is factually incorrect. They assert Univissdadants never aired

Machete. The allegation may be factuallydarrect* Nonethelessa fact alleged in a pleading

® Defendants’ reply focuses on Plaintiff’s allegation that Defendants braddaelsete on their
“respective” networks. This word appears in a single paragraph of the Secend&dan
Complaint (number thirtgix). The court addresses this allegation belafva Part 1.b.1.

* The court will assume for purposes of this motion that the only broadddsthéte by
defendants occurred on Defendant El Rey’s netwadiusively
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does not become Rule 11 violation simply becausdataesdisproved. The court’s inquiry here
is limited to whether there was an adequate factual basis and whether counsekdaomduct
reasonable investigation into the facts. Defendants have not persuaded the colaintifés Br
counsels conductmeritssanctiors here

b. Even assuming the court foundhat Plaintiff or its counsel violated Rule 11, he
court would not award attorney fees to Univision Defendants

First, because “the purpose of Rule 11 sanctions is to deter rather than to coeplemsat
rule provides that, if a monetary sanction is imposed, it should ordinarily be paid intasaurt
penalty.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, advisory committee note. Alsoleithe court has thability to
award attorney fees @moving party, such awards “should not exceed the expenses and
attorneys’ fees for the services directly and unavoidably caused by theoviolati.”

Defendants have not identified any attorneg< directly and unavoidably caused by any
violation because they implicitly acknowledge Plaintiff could have amended its claiatiege
vicarious or contributory infringemenlaintiff's reply suggests Plaintiffas alleged onlgirect
copyrightinfringementwithout any mention of vicarious liability or theories of contributory
infringement. (ECF No. 107 at 9-1Q)et, even crediting Defendants’ argument that a theory of
vicarious liability must be set forth as a separate claim, Defendantshangsugests merely
that the Complaint is inartfully pled; it does not establish Plaintiff lacked a progisrtballege
Univision Defendants are liable for copyright violations. Defendants do not suggesifiP|
filed claims againsanunrelatednnocentoysander with no connection to this matter. Instead,
Defendants suggest Plaintiff filed claims against entities that played a more nhéntbvarowas
described in Plaintiff syariouscomplaints Accordingly, Defendants fail to show thihey have

incurred fees as a direct an unavoidable result of a Rule 11 violation. Insteadjdd¢$appear
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to suggest thewere forcedo defend an inartful pleading, perhaps one that needs to be amended.
Rule 11 sanctions in the form of attorney fees are not warrantkdsa tircumstances.

1. Defendantsidentify, at most, only a minor violation

Additionally, the court finds a fee award unwarranted in the present circu@stanc
because it is disproportionate to the purported violation. At most, Defendants’dsefigests
Plaintiff should not have used the word “respective” in paragraph 36 of the Second Amended
Complaint,andperhaps otherwise clarified that Univision Defendants did not individually
broadcasMachete. “Rule 11 motions should not be made or threatened for minor,
inconsequential violations of the standards prescribed by subdivisiorsge AXgjunction LLC v.
Agrian Inc., No. 14¢ev-2069, 2015 WL 416440, at *8 (D. Kan. Jan. 30, 2(q#bipting advisory
committee note to Rule 11ven assuming discovery revedlto Plaintiff that it had no basis to
include the word “respective” in paragraph 36, such a violation is relatively mitiog scheme
of this casePlaintiff's counsel suggests Univision Defendants may still be found vichriand
contributorily liade for copyright infringement. (ECF No. 96 at 3). As discussedearpreceding
paragraphDefendants suggst Plaintiff needed to amend its claims, not dismiss them entirely.

c. The court declines to award Parr Brown its attorney fees

Parr Brown requests an award of its attorney fees expended in resistingdase
motion under Rule 11(c)(2). While the court finds Plaintiff's apparently-unsupporteatadie
that Defendants broadcaddachete on their respective networks insufficient to support an award
of attorney-fee sanctions under Rule 11; the court findsllegationprovided Defendants an
adequate basis to bring the present motion. Defendants’ motion is unsuccessfal, laak tbf

success does not justiéy award of Parr Brown’s attorney fees.
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d. The court declines to impose sanctions against David W. Brown

While only Parr Brown timely submitted a response to Defendants motion, their spons
demonstrates there was an adequate factual basis for Plagt#iiffs. This showing likewise
convinces the court that prior counsel David W. Browd An adequate factual basis to sign the
initial complaint. Indeed, Mr. Brown enjoyeyen less benefit afiscovery than did Parr Brown.
Accordingly, the court findsarctions against Mr. Brown unwarrantd.

Further, the court admonishes Defendants that Zeallousattempts to convince the
court to ignore Mr. Brown'’s tardy filings serve no useful purpose. In the futurenehts’
counsel is encouragd to accommodata party or respondent who misses a response deadline,
particularly when Defendantsbunsel isaskingthe court to impose sanctions. While the court
strongly prefers counsel make all filings timely, the coulikesvise highly averséo imposing
sanctions without hearing from the individual who may be sanctioned.

ORDER

Based on the foregoing, the court herdbgNIE S Defendarg’ Motion for Rule 11
Sanctions (ECF No. 90).

Further, the couffINDS MOOT DefendantsMotion to file Sur-Reply. (ECF No. 120).

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this31stday ofMay 2018.

D Pead
United Stajes Magjdtrate Judge

®>The court finds it need not reach the merits of Univision Defendants’ motion to fisgkur
(ECF No. 120) because Mr. Brown’s reply is nwdterial to the court’s decision to decline to
award sanction®ccordingly that motion is moot
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